# अंतर्राष्ट्रीय संग्रहालय आंकड़े

# **International Museum Statistics**

ICS 01.140.20

© BIS 2024

© ISO 2016



भारतीय मानक ब्यूरो

BUREAU OF INDIAN STANDARDS मानक भवन, 9 बहादुर शाह ज़फर मार्ग, नई दिल्ली - 110002 MANAK BHAVAN, 9 BAHADUR SHAH ZAFAR MARG NEW DELHI - 110002

www.bis.gov.in www.standardsbis.in

#### NATIONAL FOREWORD

This Indian Standard which is identical to ISO 18461: 2016 'International museum statistics' issued by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) was adopted by the Bureau of Indian Standards on the recommendation of the Documentation and Information Sectional Committee and approval of the Management and Systems Division Council.

The text of ISO standard has been approved as suitable for publication as an Indian Standard without deviations. Certain conventions and terminologies are, however, not identical to those used in Indian Standards. Attention is particularly drawn to the following:

- a) Wherever the words 'International Standard' appear referring to this standard, they should be read as 'Indian Standard'; and
- b) Comma (,) has been used as a decimal marker while in Indian Standards, the current practice is to use a point (.) as the decimal marker.

Annex A is informative only.

# **Contents**

Page

Intro	oductio	on	v		
1	Scop	oe	1		
2	Terms and definitions				
_	2.1	General			
	2.2	Types of museums			
	2.3	Governing authority of museums			
	2.4	Museum services and use			
	2.5	Collections and processes relating to collections			
	2.6	Access and facilities			
	2.7	Income and expenditure			
	2.8	Management			
	2.9	Museum staff			
3	Stru	cture and tasks of museums	16		
	3.1	General	16		
	3.2	New technologies and digitizing	17		
	3.3	Renewed interest in the visitor			
	3.4	Intangible cultural heritage			
	3.5	Social impact of museums			
4	Uses	and benefits of museum statistics	18		
	4.1	Background	18		
		4.1.1 General	18		
		4.1.2 Objectives	18		
		4.1.3 Quality	18		
	4.2	Selection of statistics for the museum	19		
	4.3	Use of statistics	19		
		4.3.1 General	19		
		4.3.2 External communication	19		
	4.4	Presenting statistics to stakeholders	19		
5	Repo	20			
	5.1	General			
	5.2	Time period to which data refer	20		
	5.3	Data estimated by sample	20		
6	Colle	ecting statistical data	21		
	6.1	General	21		
	6.2	Museums	21		
		6.2.1 Type of collection	21		
		6.2.2 Geographical coverage of the collections	21		
		6.2.3 Type of presentation (if applicable)	22		
		6.2.4 Governing authority	22		
		6.2.5 Ownership of the permanent collection	22		
		6.2.6 Counting sites of museums			
	6.3	Museum services and their use	23		
		6.3.1 General	23		
		6.3.2 Opening times			
		6.3.3 Entrance fees to permanent exhibitions			
		6.3.4 Visits			
		6.3.5 Temporary physical exhibitions			
		6.3.6 Virtual exhibitions			
		6.3.7 Events			
		6.3.8 Virtual events			
		6.3.9 Guided tours	25		

	6.3.10	Programmes	26
	6.3.11	Virtual programmes	26
	6.3.12	Publications	26
	6.3.13	Museum website	26
	6.3.14	Online services	27
	6.3.15	Collection information available online (at the end of the reporting period)	
	6.3.16	Services for mobile devices offered by the museum	
	6.3.17	Social network services	
	6.3.18	Loans	
	6.3.19	Special services	
6.4		ions	
	6.4.1	Total collection at the end of the reporting period	28
	6.4.2	Accessions	
	6.4.3	Deaccessions/withdrawals	
	6.4.4	Mode of acquisition	
	6.4.5	Percentage of objects in the collection on display	
	6.4.6	Documentary coverage of the collection	
6.5		e and expenditure	
	6.5.1	Operating (ordinary) expenditure	
	6.5.2	Capital expenditure	
	6.5.3	Income and funding	
6.6			
	6.6.1	Gross floor area	
	6.6.2	Net usable area for museum functions	
	6.6.3	Net usable area by function	
. =	6.6.4	Barrier-free access	
6.7	_	ement	
	6.7.1	Preservation/conservation	
6.0	6.7.2	Digitization	31
6.8		m staff (at the end of the reporting period)	32
	6.8.1	Paid staff	
	6.8.2	Volunteers	
	6.8.3	Internships and trainees	
	6.8.4	Staff training	
Annex A (in	formative	e) Subdivision of collection counts	33
Bibliograph			37

# Introduction

This International Standard provides guidance to the museum community on the collection and reporting of statistics

- for the purpose of strategic planning and internal management of museums,
- for reporting to stakeholders such as funding institutions, politicians, or the public,
- to promote the museums' role and value for learning and research, education and culture, social and economic life, and
- for comparing and aggregating results at a regional, national or international level.

<u>Clause 2</u> and <u>Clause 6</u> form the core of this International Standard. <u>Clause 2</u> provides definitions for most of the elements which constitute a museum or museum service; these are for statistical purposes only. <u>Clause 6</u> recommends how each of these elements should be counted. Users will need to consult both clauses for the complete information.

In order to show the setting in which the defined museum services appear, <u>Clause 3</u> describes the current structure and tasks of museums. <u>Annex A gives a structure for differentiated collection counts.</u>

Describing and publicizing museum activities consistently can only be realized if data collection in museums follows the lines of this International Standard. As far as possible, museums should collect all data named in this International Standard that concern their activities.

This International Standard will be maintained by a Working Group that will monitor developments and incorporate additional statistical measures as needed.

This International Standard has been developed in close cooperation with International Council on Museums (ICOM) and takes advantage of, particularly, the work of European Group on Museum Statistics (EGMUS) and of the Institute of Museum and Library Services (US).

This Pade has been Intentionally left blank

# Indian Standard

# INTERNATIONAL MUSEUM STATISTICS

# 1 Scope

This International Standard specifies rules for the museum community on the collection and reporting of statistics. It provides definitions and counting procedures for all types of resources and services that museums offer to their users.

It is recognized that not all measures specified in this International Standard can be collected by museums of different type and size. The aim is to ensure that, where a particular statistic is collected, the same definitions and methods are used.

This International Standard is not intended to exclude the use of methods not specified in it. There are many different types of museums, with different tasks and audiences, having a range of unique characteristics (structure, funding, governance, etc.), and affected by a number of situational factors. Since there is such a wide variation around the world, it is important to understand that not all methods described in this International Standard may be required by or useful to all museums.

# 2 Terms and definitions

For the purposes of this document, the following terms and definitions apply.

#### 2.1 General

#### 2.1.1

## archival records

record (2.8.11) of the same provenance accumulated by an organization or person in the course of the conduct of affairs, and preserved because of their enduring value

## 2.1.2

## archives

organization or part of an organization responsible for selection, *acquisition* ( $\underline{2.5.2}$ ), *preservation* ( $\underline{2.8.9}$ ) and availability of one or more sets of archival documents

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.2.3.01 — modified]

#### 2.1.3

#### cultural heritage

legacy of physical objects and intangible attributes of a group or a society that are inherited from past generations, maintained and protected in the present and preserved for future generations

# 2.1.4

## library

organization, or part of an organization, the main aim of which is to facilitate the use of such information resources, services and facilities as are required to meet the informational, research, educational, cultural or recreational needs of its users

Note 1 to entry: The supply of the required information resources can be accomplished by building and maintaining a *collection* (2.5.9) and/or by organizing access to information resources.

Note 2 to entry: These are the basic requirements for a library and do not exclude any additional resources and services incidental to its main purpose.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.1.6]

#### 2.1.5

#### museum

non-profit, permanent institution in the service of society and its development, open to the public, which acquires, conserves, researches, communicates and exhibits the tangible and intangible heritage of humanity and its environment for the purposes of education, study and enjoyment

Note 1 to entry: Natural, archaeological and ethnographic monuments and sites and historical monuments and sites of a museum nature are included, if they maintain a *collection* (2.5.9) similar to museums.

Note 2 to entry: *Zoos* (2.2.17), *aquaria* (2.2.1), *arboreta* (2.2.2) and *botanic gardens* (2.2.5) are included, but should be reported separately.

Note 3 to entry: Collections in institutions of higher education that serve only the purposes of teaching and study are excluded.

Note 4 to entry: Conservation institutes and exhibition galleries in libraries and archives centres are included if they conform to the definition of museum.

Note 5 to entry: To conform to the definition it is not necessary that an institution be called a museum, but that it has the role and function of a museum.

[SOURCE: ICOM, Museum definition, 2007]

#### 2.1.6

#### museum site

location of a museum (2.1.5)

Note 1 to entry: Only sites operated by the museum itself are included.

# 2.2 Types of museums

# 2.2.1

# aquarium

establishment that maintains a *collection* (2.5.9) of live aquatic animals and plants for display to the public, study, and conservation

#### 2.2.2

#### arboretum

botanic garden (2.2.5) devoted to trees

#### 2.2.3

## archaeology museum

museum (2.1.5) owing all or a part of its collections (2.5.9) to excavations

[SOURCE: UNESCO classification]

#### 2.2.4

#### art museum

museum (2.1.5) concerned with works of visual art

Note 1 to entry: Includes museums of sculpture, picture galleries, museums of photography and cinema, and museums of architecture.

Note 2 to entry: Commercial art galleries are excluded.

#### 2.2.5

#### botanic garden

establishment where plants are grown for scientific study and display to the public

Note 1 to entry: *Arboreta* (2.2.2), *herbaria* (2.2.9), etc. are included.

#### 2.2.6

#### ecomuseum

*museum* (2.1.5) which is managed by local communities and aims to showcase and protect important elements of an area's cultural and natural heritage

#### 2.2.7

#### ethnography and anthropology museum

*museum* (2.1.5) concerned with subjects relating to culture, social structure, beliefs, customs, traditional arts, etc.

Note 1 to entry: Adapted from the UNESCO classification.

#### 2.2.8

#### general museum

museum (2.1.5) which has mixed collections (2.5.9) and cannot be identified by a predominant field

Note 1 to entry: "Universal museums" are considered "general museums".

Note 2 to entry: Adapted from the UNESCO classification.

#### 2.2.9

#### herbarium

establishment that maintains a *collection* (2.5.9) of dried plants for display to the public, study and conservation

#### 2.2.10

#### history museum

*museum* (2.1.5) concerned with the history of a defined geographic area or a cultural group of people over a limited period or over the centuries

Note 1 to entry: Includes museums with *collections* (2.5.9) of historical objects, commemorative museums, military museums, museums on historical persons, etc.

Note 2 to entry: Adapted from the UNESCO classification.

### 2.2.11

### living history museum

museum (2.1.5) which recreates historical settings to simulate past time periods

#### 2.2.12

# natural history museum

museum (2.1.5) concerned with subjects relating to one or several disciplines such as biology, geology, botany, zoology, palaeontology and ecology

Note 1 to entry: Adapted from the UNESCO classification.

#### 2.2.13

## open-air museum

*museum* (2.1.5) that exhibits buildings and objects out-of-doors, often in archaeological sites, past industrial or mining heritage sites and settings of recreated landscapes of the past, and which includes the site around the buildings

## 2.2.14

# science and technology museum

*museum* (2.1.5) concerned with exact sciences or technologies such as astronomy, mathematics, physics, chemistry, medical science, computing, engineering, and applied sciences

Note 1 to entry: Planetaria and science centres are included.

Note 2 to entry: Adapted from the UNESCO classification.

#### 2.2.15

## specialized museum

museum (2.1.5) concerned with all aspects of a single subject

Note 1 to entry: Examples for single subjects are "cats" or "Jonathan Swift".

Note 2 to entry: Adapted from the UNESCO classification.

#### 2.2.16

#### virtual museum

online-only museum (2.1.5) without physical building or physical collection (2.5.9)

Note 1 to entry: Physical museums with online presence are excluded.

Note 2 to entry: Virtual museums can also be denoted as online museum, hypermuseum, digital museum, cybermuseum or web museum.

#### 2.2.17

#### **ZOO**

establishment that maintains a *collection* (2.5.9) of live animals, typically in a park or in gardens, for display to the public, study, and conservation

# 2.3 Governing authority of museums

#### 2.3.1

## governing authority

body with legal and fiduciary responsibility for the *museum* (2.1.5) and for approving museum policy

Note 1 to entry: The governing authority can be represented by a Board of Trustees.

## 2.3.2

#### locally/regionally governed museum

museum (2.1.5) governed by local or regional authorities (province, county, city, town, etc.).

#### 2.3.3

## other public-governed museums

museum (2.1.5) governed by other public authorities

Note 1 to entry: Foundations or associations registered under private law but governed by the state are included.

Note 2 to entry: Museums governed by state universities are included.

#### 2.3.4

## private-governed museum

*museum* (2.1.5) governed by private entities (such as non-profit organisations registered under private law), families or individuals

Note 1 to entry: Foundations or associations registered under private law but governed by the state are excluded.

#### 2.3.5

## public/private partnership museum

museum (2.1.5) governed jointly, in partnership of a public and a private institution

Note 1 to entry: Museums governed by private universities are included.

Note 2 to entry: Museums governed jointly by governmental and local/regional authorities are included.

#### 2.3.6

#### state-governed museum

museum (2.1.5) governed by governmental authorities above local or regional level

#### 2.4 Museum services and use

#### 2.4.1

# audio guide

hand-held device providing recorded audio information for visitors touring a *museum* (2.1.5), gallery, or other place of interest

## 2.4.2

# deposit

DEPRECATED: permanent loan

transfer of objects to an institution without change of ownership or legal title, or the objects acquired by such a transfer

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.6.2.2.09 — modified]

#### 2.4.3

#### download

successful request of a content unit from a museum-provided online service or other Internet service

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.6 — modified]

#### 2.4.4

#### electronic interactive service

*museum* (2.1.5) service with social software that facilitates a bidirectional exchange of information among users or between users and the museum

Note 1 to entry: Examples are blogs and wikis.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.15 — modified]

#### 2.4.5

#### event

pre-arranged singular activity having an intent within the mission of the *museum* (2.1.5)

Note 1 to entry: The activity would usually be of a cultural, educational, social political or scholarly nature, and would take the form of lectures, film screening, theatre performances, round table discussions, etc.

Note 2 to entry: Events can be organized inside or outside the museum premises.

Note 3 to entry: Events inside the museum premises organized by institutions outside the museum without the museum's participation should be counted separately.

Note 4 to entry: Guided tours, programmes, exhibitions (2.4.6) and virtual events (2.4.21) are excluded.

#### 2.4.6

#### exhibition

curated display of *museum* (2.1.5) objects or other items of *cultural heritage* (2.1.3) on a clear concept and communicating a message

Note 1 to entry: Exhibitions can take place inside or outside the museum premises.

Note 2 to entry: Exhibitions can be temporary or permanent.

Note 3 to entry: *Virtual exhibitions* (2.4.22) are excluded.

Note 4 to entry: Exhibitions inside the museum premises organized by institutions outside the museum without the museum's participation should be counted separately.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.10 — modified]

#### 2.4.7

#### loan

lending of an object in the *museum's* (2.1.5) *collection* (2.5.9) to, or borrowing an object from, other collecting organisations, private collectors, or agencies

Note 1 to entry: *Deposits (permanent loans)* (2.4.2) are counted separately.

#### 2.4.8

## mobile device

portable computing device, typically having a display screen with touch, pen and/or keyboard input and Internet connection

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.20 — modified]

#### 2.4.9

#### museum website

unique domain on the Internet consisting of a *collection* (2.5.9) of web pages that is published by a *museum* (2.1.5) to provide access to the museum's services and resources

Note 1 to entry: The pages of a website are usually interconnected by the use of hypertext links.

Note 2 to entry: Excludes documents that fit the definitions of "digitised collection" and "free Internet resources" that are linked from the museum website.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.18 — modified]

#### 2.4.10

#### online access

successful request of a museum-provided online service

Note 1 to entry: An online access is one cycle of user activities that typically starts when a user connects to a museum-provided online service and ends by a terminating activity that is either explicit (by leaving the database through log-out or exit) or implicit (timeout due to user inactivity).

Note 2 to entry: Online accesses to the *museum website* (2.4.9) are counted as *virtual visits* (2.4.23).

Note 3 to entry: If possible, requests by robots/web crawlers should be excluded.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.1 — modified]

## 2.4.11

#### online catalogue

database of records and images describing objects of one or more *museums* (2.1.5) presented for public access

#### 2.4.12

## online image library

image collection (2.5.9) with an interface for downloading (2.4.3) and/or purchasing images

## 2.4.13

## permanent exhibition

## long-term exhibition

*exhibition* (2.4.6) showing, over a long period of time, objects which are in long-term custody of the *museum* (2.1.5)

#### 2.4.14

# physical visit

act of entering into one or all of the parts of the *museum* (2.1.5) premises

#### 2.4.15

#### programme

pre-arranged ongoing and repeatable activity having an intent within the mission of the museum (2.1.5)

Note 1 to entry: The activity would usually be of a cultural, educational, social political or scholarly nature, and would take the form of workshops, travel programmes, courses for school classes, etc.

Note 2 to entry: Programmes can be organized inside or outside the museum premises.

Note 3 to entry: Programmes inside the museum premises organized by institutions outside the museum without the museum's participation should be counted separately.

Note 4 to entry: *Events* (2.4.5), guided tours, *exhibitions* (2.4.6) and *virtual events* (2.4.21) are excluded, but are counted separately.

Note 5 to entry: Virtual programmes are included, but should be counted separately.

#### 2.4.16

#### social network service

electronic service designed to allow users to establish a personal or organizational profile and contact other individuals for the purpose of communicating, collaborating, and/or sharing content with them

Note 1 to entry: Users can be individual persons or institutions such as *museums* (2.1.5).

Note 2 to entry: Most services allow members to restrict the visibility of their profile information to registered service members only, people on an established list of contacts, or particular groups of service users.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.33 — modified]

#### 2.4.17

#### target population

groups of actual and potential users appropriate to a museum (2.1.5) as the object of a specific service or as the primary users of specific materials

Note 1 to entry: Such target groups can e.g. be children, schools, researchers, or educators.

[SOURCE: ISO 11620:2014, 3.49 — modified]

## 2.4.18

# temporary exhibition

## short-term exhibition

exhibition (2.4.6) shown during a limited period of time

Note 1 to entry: A temporary exhibition is counted only once, in the year it is started.

### 2.4.19

## travelling exhibition

*exhibition* (2.4.6) that is shown consecutively in several locations

#### 2.4.20

#### user

recipient of museum (2.1.5) services

Note 1 to entry: The recipient can be a person or an institution, including *museums* (2.1.5).

Note 2 to entry: Museum services include electronic services, physical services and visiting the museum premises.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.36 — modified]

#### 2.4.21

#### virtual event

event (2.4.5) in electronic format, specially designed for use via the Internet

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.38 — modified]

#### 2.4.22

#### virtual exhibition

exhibition (2.4.6) in electronic format, specially designed for use via the Internet

#### 2.4.23

## virtual visit

one continuous cycle of user activities on the *museum website* (2.4.9), regardless of the number of pages or elements viewed

Note 1 to entry: A virtual visit typically starts when a user accesses the museum website after visiting an external page, and ends if no activity has been recorded for a defined period of time (a maximum of 30 min). Another access after a longer interval initiates a new visit.

Note 2 to entry: A virtual visitor should at least be identified by a unique cookie and/or by a unique combination of the user's IP address and browser string (user agent). Known web spiders and harvesters should be excluded.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.39 — modified]

#### 2.4.24

## visitor

person (individual) entering the *museum* (2.1.5) premises

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.2.40 — modified]

# 2.5 Collections and processes relating to collections

NOTE For certain collection management procedures, detailed instruction and advice is given in "SPECTRUM The UK Museum Collections Management Standard" which is also available in several national language translations.

#### 2.5.1

#### accession

#### addition

formal act of entering an object into the *collections* (2.5.9) of a museum (2.1.5)

Note 1 to entry: Once an object has been accessioned, it has a status beyond that of merely being the property of the organization and can only be disposed of by referring to the governing body of the organization, e.g. the trustees or director.

#### 2.5.2

# acquisition

process of gaining legal possession of an object for a *museum* ( $\underline{2.1.5}$ ) *collection* ( $\underline{2.5.9}$ ), through purchase, *donation* ( $\underline{2.5.17}$ ), bequest, transfer or fieldwork

#### 2.5.3

#### art object

object made with an artistic intention or considered of artistic value

#### 2.5.4

# artefact

object made or shaped by a human, such as a tool or an art object (2.5.3)

Note 1 to entry: Objects created for their aesthetic value are considered art objects.

Note 2 to entry: Replicas are excluded.

#### 2.5.5

#### audiovisual document

document (2.5.16) in which sound and/or pictures are prominent, and which requires the use of special equipment to be seen and/or heard

Note 1 to entry: This includes audio documents such as phonographic records (2.5.27), tapes, cassettes, audio compact discs, DVDs, files of digital audio recordings; visual documents such as slides, transparencies; and combined audiovisual documents, such as motion pictures, video recordings, computer games, etc.

Note 2 to entry: Microforms are excluded.

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.3.3.07 — modified]

Note 3 to entry:

#### 2.5.6

#### book

non-serial printed *document* (2.5.16) in codex form

Note 1 to entry: Handwritten or typescript documents in codex form are called manuscripts.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.4 — modified]

#### 2.5.7

#### born digital object

object that has been created originally in digital form

Note 1 to entry: Documents are included.

#### 2.5.8

#### cartographic document

conventional representation, on a reduced scale, of concrete or abstract phenomena which can be localized in space and time

Note 1 to entry: This includes *documents* (2.5.16) such as two-dimensional and three-dimensional maps, globes, plans, topographic models, tactile maps and aerial representations, but excludes atlases and any other cartographic documents in codex form that are counted as *books* (2.5.6).

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.4.7.58 — modified]

#### 2.5.9

## collection

body of acquired objects held in title by a *museum* (2.1.5)

#### 2.5.10

## collection management

all practices and procedures implemented by a museum (2.1.5) in acquiring, documenting, handling, accessing, cataloguing, storing, securing, lending, conserving and disposing of collection objects

# 2.5.11

#### collection policy

museum's (2.1.5) scope and its aims, practices and procedures of collection management (2.5.10)

Note 1 to entry: The collection policy also identifies the kinds of objects a museum will collect, the terms and conditions governing acquisitions (2.5.2) and the deaccession (2.5.12) policy.

#### 2.5.12

# deaccession

## withdrawal

object withdrawn from the *museum* (2.1.5) *collection* (2.5.9) during the reporting period

Note 1 to entry: Withdrawals can be affected, for example, by discarding, transferring, selling or, in the case of electronic resources, by deletion of files.

Note 2 to entry: Losses and thefts are included, but should be counted separately.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.51 — modified]

#### 2.5.13

# digital collection

all objects in digital form in the *museum* (2.1.5) *collection* (2.5.9), whether born digital or digitized

Note 1 to entry: Documents are included.

#### 2.5.14

#### digital object

object that has been digitally created or digitized by the *museum* (2.1.5) or has been acquired in digital form

Note 1 to entry: Documents are included.

#### 2.5.15

# digitized object

digitally reproduced object

Note 1 to entry: A two-dimensional or three-dimensional object is counted as digitized if its metadata and at least one image of it are available in digital format.

Note 2 to entry: Documents such as autographs, *books* (2.5.6) or *audiovisual documents* (2.5.5) are counted as digitized if their metadata and their contents are available in digital format.

Note 3 to entry: Documents are included.

#### 2.5.16

#### document

recorded information which can be treated as a unit in a documentation process

Note 1 to entry: Documents can differ in form and characteristics.

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.1.1.38 — modified]

# 2.5.17

#### donation

#### gift

*acquisition* (2.5.2) without payment from the *museum's* (2.1.5) resources and with change of ownership and legal title

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.6.2.2.01 — modified]

#### 2.5.18

#### drawing

picture made with a solid mineral substance or a pointed tool

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.4.7.53 — modified]

# 2.5.19

#### film

series of pictures recorded on a strip of transparent material, or on an electronic data medium, which, when projected or produced rapidly one after another on a screen, give the illusion of natural and continuous movement

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.4.5.1.08 — modified]

#### 2.5.20

#### free Internet resource

Internet resource with unrestricted (open) access for which no payment is required

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.23]

#### 2.5.21

## graphic document

document (2.5.16) in which pictorial representation is the most prominent feature and which has been produced by graphic techniques on a flat surface

Note 1 to entry: This is pictorial rather than linguistic, musical or cartographic in form. It includes art prints, art originals, art reproductions, photographs (2.5.28), posters, study prints, technical drawings, etc., but excludes graphic documents in codex form or in microform, audiovisual or electronic form.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.25 — modified]

#### 2.5.22

## manuscript

original *document* (2.5.16) that is handwritten or in typescript

Note 1 to entry: Bound volumes and other units (fragments, rolls, autographs, papyri, scrolls, etc.) may be counted separately.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.29 — modified]

#### 2.5.23

#### microform

photographic *document* (2.5.16) requiring magnification when used

Note 1 to entry: Microfiches and microfilms are included.

Note 2 to entry: Slides and similar documents are counted as audiovisual documents (2.5.5).

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.30 — modified]

# 2.5.24

## obiect

item which forms part of a museum's (2.1.5) collection (2.5.9)

Note 1 to entry: For objects in natural science collections the term "specimen" is generally used.

Note 2 to entry: Documents are included.

# 2.5.25

# open access

unrestricted access to information, documents (2.5.16) or information services

Note 1 to entry: This does not necessarily imply that the access is free of charge.

Note 2 to entry: Information, documents or information services can be declared "non-open" as a consequence of existing legal provisions.

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.11.1.05]

## 2.5.26

## painting

image created using pigments, or any materials which can realize a shape on a surface such as paper or canvas

Note 1 to entry: The pigment can be in a wet form, such as paint, or a dry form, such as pastels.

#### 2.5.27

### phonographic record

sound carrier in the form of a disc on which non-erasable sounds are recorded

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.4.5.5.02 — modified]

#### 2.5.28

# photograph

picture obtained by a process which fixes a direct and durable image on a sensitized surface by the action of electromagnetic radiation

Note 1 to entry: Radiation can be light, X-rays, etc.

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.4.5.1.01]

## 2.5.29

# physical unit

physically coherent *document* (2.5.16) unit, inclusive of any protective devices, freely movable against other document units

Note 1 to entry: Coherence may be achieved, for example, by binding or encasement.

Note 2 to entry: For bound printed documents, the term "volume" is used for the physical unit.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.44 — modified]

#### 2.5.30

#### printed document

*document* (2.5.16) in which the characters, pictures and drawings are reproduced by any method of mechanical impression or computer printing

[SOURCE: ISO 9707:2006, 3.29 — modified]

# 2.5.31

## repatriation

return of cultural objects or *art objects* (2.5.3) to their country or community of origin or to their previous owners

#### 2.5.32

#### replica

exact or faithful copy of an object

## 2.5.33

#### sculpture

three-dimensional work of art made by carving, moulding or casting

#### 2.5.34

## set

several physical objects put together as a group because of a common criterion

EXAMPLE Tea-set, chess-set.

Note 1 to entry: Such criterion can be the same origin, physical description, use, etc.

# 2.5.35

## specimen

whole or a part of an organism, plant, rock, etc., collected and preserved as an example of its class, species, etc.

#### 2.5.36

#### volume

physical unit for a *document* (2.5.16) assembling a certain number of leaves under one cover to form a whole or part of a set

Note 1 to entry: Usually a volume is a printed document.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.50 — modified]

#### 2.6 Access and facilities

#### 2.6.1

# gross f loor area

sum of all floor areas of all levels of a building

Note 1 to entry: Includes the net usable area, circulation space, the functional space and the space occupied by the constructional elements of the building (pillars, internal walls, etc.).

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.4.2 — modified]

#### 2.6.2

# museum complex

museum (2.1.5) building that houses two or more different museums

#### 2.6.3

#### net usable area

part of the gross floor area which serves the main purpose of the museum (2.1.5) building

Note 1 to entry: Includes space for the *permanent exhibition* (2.4.13), for *temporary exhibitions* (2.4.18), for storage, for visitor services (including areas for recreation and communication and stores and restaurants, if these are not rented out), for museum management and technical services, for conservation areas, *events* (2.4.5) and meetings, janitorial storage, laboratories, *museum archives* (2.1.2) and *museum libraries* (2.1.4), aisles, toilets and all space used for museum *collections* (2.5.9) and services.

Note 2 to entry: Excludes vestibules, traffic areas, elevators, stairway space, building corridors, space for utility management.

Note 3 to entry: Excludes the functional space that houses the central operational equipment of a building (e.g. sewage disposal, heating, conveyor technique).

Note 4 to entry: *Open-air museums* (2.2.13) should give separate figures for the site around the buildings.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.4.10 — modified]

#### 2.6.4

#### opening hours

hours in a normal week when the *museum* (2.1.5) is accessible to *visitors* (2.4.24)

#### 2.6.5

#### storage area

area of the *museum* (2.1.5) where the objects are kept under controlled conditions if not on display or in technical treatment

# 2.7 Income and expenditure

## 2.7.1

#### capital expenditure

expenditure which results in the *acquisition* (2.5.2) of, or addition to, fixed assets

Note 1 to entry: This includes expenditure on building sites, new buildings and extensions, furnishings and equipment for new and expanded buildings, computer systems (hardware and software), etc. When applicable, local and national sales/purchase taxes (e.g. Value Added Tax (VAT)) are included.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.6.1 — modified]

#### 2.7.2

## capital income

income resulting from assets, e.g. from a foundation

#### 2.7.3

#### endowment

fund that is made up of gifts and bequests which require that the principal be maintained intact and invested to create a source of income for an organization

Note 1 to entry: An endowment requires that the principal remain intact in perpetuity, or for a defined period of time or until sufficient assets have been accumulated to achieve a designated purpose.

#### 2.7.4

# full-price general admission

current price charged to a non-member adult visitor (2.4.24) who is not eligible for any discounts

Note 1 to entry: Discounts can apply to senior citizens, students, local residents, for example.

#### 2.7.5

# operating expenditure ordinary expenditure

expenditure incurred in the running of a museum (2.1.5)

Note 1 to entry: Operating expenditure refers to money spent on staff and on resources that are used and replaced regularly. This includes expenditure on employees, rent, *acquisitions* (2.5.2), computer networks (operations and maintenance), telecommunication, buildings, maintenance, utilities (electricity, water, sewage, heating, etc.), repairs or replacements of existing furnishings and equipment, *events* (2.4.5), *programmes* (2.4.15), *exhibitions* (2.4.6), etc. This can also be termed 'current' or 'recurrent' expenditure. When applicable, local and national sales/purchase taxes (e.g. Value Added Tax (VAT)) are included.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.6.3 — modified]

# 2.8 Management

#### 2.8.1

# accession register

itemized list or *record* (2.8.11) of the objects officially added to a *museum* (2.1.5) *collection* (2.5.9) during a specified period of time

## 2.8.2

#### catalogue

collection (2.5.9) of records (2.8.11) containing all known, relevant information about an object in a museum (2.1.5) collection

Note 1 to entry: Such information can include origin, age, creator, title (e.g. for works of art), physical description (materials and/or techniques used in production, physical dimensions), use, provenance, etc. of the object.

# 2.8.3

# cataloguing

process of preparing and maintaining catalogues (2.8.2)

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.2.1.29 — modified]

# 2.8.4

#### conservation

intervention techniques applied to prevent, arrest or delay deterioration

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.12.1.01 — modified]

#### 2.8.5

## digital preservation

storage, maintenance, and access to a *digital object* (2.5.14) over a long time, usually involving applying one or more *preservation* (2.8.9) strategies

[SOURCE: ISO/TS 21547:2010, 2.3.15]

#### 2.8.6

# digitization

process of converting objects from analogue into digital form

Note 1 to entry: Digitization for *preservation* (2.8.9) purposes is included.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.3.15 — modified]

## 2.8.7

#### inventory

itemized list or record (2.8.11) of all objects contained in a museum (2.1.5) collection (2.5.9)

#### 2.8.8

#### inventory control

process of establishing the physical presence of all objects in a *museum* (2.1.5) for which that museum has custody and is legally responsible

Note 1 to entry: This includes objects in the *collection* ( $\underline{2.5.9}$ ), objects on loan to the museum, and objects in custody of the museum.

#### 2.8.9

#### preservation

all measures taken, including financial and strategic decisions, to maintain the integrity and extend the life of *documents* (2.5.16) or *collections* (2.5.9)

[SOURCE: ISO 5217:2014, 4.6.1.1]

#### 2.8.10

#### project

unique process, consisting of a set of coordinated and controlled activities with start and finish dates, undertaken to achieve an objective conforming to specific requirements, including the constraints of time, cost and resources

Note 1 to entry: An individual project can form part of a larger project structure.

[SOURCE: ISO 9000:2015 — modified]

#### 2.8.11

## record

set of data on one person, object or event (2.4.5), selected and presented for a predefined purpose

Note 1 to entry: The record can include elements such as title, creator, subject, description, date of origin, etc.

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.1.13.22 — modified]

# 2.8.12

# restoration

actions taken to return an object which has suffered deterioration or damage as closely as practicable to its original state

Note 1 to entry: In archival restoration, no attempt is made to recreate missing text, etc., and all restoration work is kept clearly evident.

[SOURCE: ISO 5127:—, 4.12.1.02 — modified]

#### 2.9 Museum staff

#### 2.9.1

# museum employee

person who works for a *museum* (2.1.5) in return for payment

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.7.1 — modified]

#### 2.9.2

# staff training

formal pre-planned training which can be held in-house or externally, and delivered by *museum* (2.1.5) staff or external experts

Note 1 to entry: Informal training, e.g. point-of-use training, is excluded.

Note 2 to entry: Online training is included.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.7.6 — modified]

#### 2.9.3

## volunteer

person working on museum (2.1.5) tasks without payment

Note 1 to entry: Volunteers can receive token reimbursements or expense allowances.

[SOURCE: ISO 2789:2013, 2.7.7 — modified]

# 3 Structure and tasks of museums

## 3.1 General

Museums across the world vary greatly in terms of size, focus, activities, the public they seek to serve and the functions they fulfil in society: from the tiny, local museums appealing to local communities to the comprehensive national or international collections serving countries and regions, as well as being major tourist attractions. Likewise, the content of museum collections varies from postage stamps, art, minerals or everyday utensils, to buildings, ships, or entire landscapes.

Museums also vary in terms of institutional structure and in governance and funding. While some museums may have only one employee to fulfil the varied museum tasks, others may have hundreds of specialized employees. Many museums rely heavily on contributions made by volunteers while others are solely run by paid professionals. Some museums are owned by member organizations or private individuals, others are owned by national, regional or local governmental agencies. Some museums receive all funding from national governmental agencies, while others rely exclusively on private donations or on a combination of all of these. In many countries, the acknowledgement of museums as key cultural institutions has ensured a high level of governmental funding. In the face of economic crisis or political change, funding may be reduced and many museums find alternative ways to ensure their income, such as sponsoring from private bodies, increased level of admission fees or the organizing of special events.

All museums, however, share certain key tasks:

"A museum is a non-profit, permanent institution in the service of society and its development, open to the public, which acquires, conserves, researches, communicates and exhibits the tangible and intangible heritage of humanity and its environment for the purposes of education, study and enjoyment." (ICOM 2007)

There are many continuities in the history of museums: for centuries, the acquiring of collections and practices related to the maintenance, studying and conveyance of these collections have constituted key tasks and characteristics of museums. A museum, however, always interacts with and reflects

cultural, economic and political developments in the larger society. While there is much consistency in the history of museums, still many of their practices have transformed over the decades.

# 3.2 New technologies and digitizing

New information and communication technologies are radically transforming everyday museum practices and work flow. New technologies are used to promote interactivity; online exhibitions are presented on websites; participation in social media plays a role in museums and interested museum employees engage in development of mobile technologies. There are museums which already offer informative apps to their visitors providing access to exhibitions, and others provide information on special collections formatted for mobile devices. The impact and use of new technologies varies greatly between countries. However, the intensity and velocity by which this development has diffused in recent years, as well as the reduced cost of such processes, predicts a continued rapid increase in the transformative impact of information and communication technologies in many more museums in the near future.

Digitizing of collections is evolving into a core museum activity. While digitizing in museums started out largely without written policies or plans, the process has gradually been incorporated in governmental directives and collection policies. Both national and transnational initiatives promote and inform processes of museums digitizing their collections. There has been a move away from seeing new technologies mainly as working tools towards a full appreciation of their importance in the sharing of collections and allowing users to benefit from collections. "To provide access" is the oft-heard motto for digitizing, followed by arguments such as protection of objects, marketing and adding of value for the education and creative economy sector, supporting inventories, making collections searchable, creation of online catalogues, or providing overview over large collections.

#### 3.3 Renewed interest in the visitor

A change of dissemination and interpretation practices, placing the visitor at the centre, is taking place in many museums. Visitor research has since long been undertaken with a general focus on visitors' experiences of visits, now the focus increasingly is set on visitors' participation and interaction.

New technologies have greatly impacted on the possibilities for museums to engage with their visitors in activities characterized by dialogue and interaction. Supplementing the traditional guided tours based on academic, expert knowledge, didactic methods (often associated with playfulness and an easy, interactive access to knowledge) govern current dissemination practices. The new visitor role demands training of museum employees for this purpose and adequate technical equipment.

# 3.4 Intangible cultural heritage

Historically, the concept of cultural heritage in museums has referred to material, often immovable goods, such as monuments, historical buildings and collections, resulting in a widespread, long standing notion of cultural heritage as something material and solid. The concept of intangible cultural heritage is based on the understanding that transmission should be performed by human beings. It refers to practices, representations, expressions, knowledge, skills, as well as the instruments, objects, artefacts and cultural spaces associated therewith, that communities, groups and, in some cases, individuals recognize as part of their cultural heritage.

Practices and interactions which incorporate objects, not the objects themselves, are at the very core of intangible cultural heritage. Of essential importance is the safeguarding of such practices, through the maintenance of cultural processes of creativity and change. Such safeguarding takes place in different cultural spaces and museums are in a privileged position to overcome the distinction between material and intangible cultural heritage. Folklore, ethnological and ethnographic museums have for decades or centuries collected, preserved and researched on records and transcriptions of intangible heritage. While these activities often have transformed intangible phenomena by converting practices or expressions into materialized, solid objects, a challenge for today's museums is to engage in the safeguarding and enhancement of the actual practices and expressions through cooperation.

# 3.5 Social impact of museums

From the 1960s and onward, there has been a huge growth in number of museums worldwide, many of which are focusing on the histories and cultures of groups formerly excluded from the "big narratives" of nations and regions. Museums of cultural minorities, working class culture, children's museums and other specialized museums have greatly enriched the international museum landscape.

Museums are key institutions for the preservation of collective memory, and their role as identity-makers has a long standing tradition. As keepers and producers of collective heritage, museums create a sense of belonging among their public and visitors. In the face of climate, political, cultural and economic changes, museums have key functions in countries through their ability to reflect change and continuity. Often, museums take on a critical role towards societal and political developments. Through their exhibitions and displays, museums can provide connections between nature and culture, and past, present and future.

Museums are active participants and contributors to the well-being of societies, and their ability to stimulate cultural development, economic gains and tourism is an important reason for investments in museums. Museums operate within very different political and economic frameworks. A shared and essential factor is nevertheless that museums, if they are to fulfil their important societal role, need adequate financial resources.

## 4 Uses and benefits of museum statistics

# 4.1 Background

#### 4.1.1 General

The statistical data defined and described in this International Standard can be used for the evaluation and comparison of museums, as well as for promoting, marketing and advocating the value that museums provide for individual visitors and for society.

Museum statistics are collected by the individual museums and should be summarized on a regional, national or international scale for all museums or for different types of museums. While individual museums mostly use statistics for strategic planning, decision making, funding bids and justification of their use of resources, statistics on a national scale are needed to develop and support the national museum policy and to show the impact and benefits of museums.

## 4.1.2 Objectives

The key objectives for museum statistics can be summarized as follows:

- to monitor operating results against standards and data of similar organizations;
- to monitor trends over time and the effects of innovation;
- to provide a base for planning, decision making, improving service quality, and receiving feedback on the results;
- to inform national or regional organizations in their support, funding and monitoring roles;
- to demonstrate the value of museum services obtained by users, including the potential value to users in future generations.

# **4.1.3 Quality**

The quality of the statistics and reliability of data are of vital importance. Statistics, being essentially historical, can only provide information after the event. However, plans for the future need to start from a solid statistical base. Valid, reliable and comparable data are crucial for the value and usefulness of museum statistics. This requires consistency in definitions and data collection procedures. Neither

should be changed without necessity, as changes can affect the comparability of data over years and with other museums.

The usefulness of museum statistics summarized regionally or nationally depends on accurate and timely delivery by each museum and on careful editing to detect errors and misunderstandings.

#### 4.2 Selection of statistics for the museum

This International Standard recognizes that there are many different types of museums, in different settings, with different collections and services and having a range of unique characteristics (structure, funding, governance, etc.). Not all statistical data named in this International Standard will be relevant for all types of museums and there will be much additional data relevant for individual museums.

#### 4.3 Use of statistics

#### **4.3.1 General**

While the form of statistics varies for types of museums, their objectives are the same. Museum statistics are necessary for the effective management of museums. They are still more important for the promotion of museum services to different types of stakeholders: policy makers and funders; museum managers and staff, actual and potential users, the media and the general public. When statistics are aimed at policy makers, managers and funders, they are essential for informing decisions on levels of service and future strategic planning. They are also important for generating confidence in museums to deliver good value for money and services that are well taken up by the population.

#### 4.3.2 External communication

Museum statistics can be used for evaluating, explaining, demonstrating and promoting various aspects of museum services:

- by counting input (resources, including buildings and equipment, collections and staff), museum statistics show the engagement of policy makers and funders in museums;
- by counting output, namely the visits to permanent and temporary exhibitions and the attendances
  of events and programmes, statistics show whether the services are adequate for the population to
  be served;
- comparison of input and output data demonstrates whether museums are organizing their services in a cost-effective way;
- statistics demonstrate which services are most heavily used, and whether there is a need to modify the type or range of services;
- museum statistics provide evidence of trends and developments in the expectations and behaviour of museum visitors.

Although output statistics cannot directly prove outcome or impact of museum services on individuals or on the society, data about the frequency and intensity of usage can indicate an impact of museums on their users. Such impact can concern the understanding of the natural and cultural heritage, learning and research, social inclusion and cultural identity. It will be easier to trace if additional data from visitor surveys are added to the statistical results.

## 4.4 Presenting statistics to stakeholders

To gain the full value of the statistics, adequate methods of representing statistical data will be essential, aligned with the interests of the different stakeholder groups.

Stakeholders of museums will normally be the following:

- users (actual and potential users);
- funding institutions (e.g. a ministry, a community);
- sponsors and donors;
- policy makers;
- the general public;
- museum staff and managers.

The perception of museums will differ in these stakeholder groups. Visitors and other users rate museum quality according to their personal experience with the services; statistics for users should therefore describe the museum and show data about the collections or the number and type of user services, e.g. events.

Statistics for funders and policy makers, but also for the media, should be limited to a small number of significant and convincing figures, with a focus on cost-effectiveness (expenditure compared to usage data) and on the value of the museum's services for society or for a specific community (number of visitors, of loans for exhibitions, of attendances at programmes). By comparing the museum's statistics with those of other museums of similar mission and type, the museum could be presented in the context of the regional or national museum community.

Statistics for museum staff and management will be much more detailed. They should be used to demonstrate strengths and weaknesses and to show developments over time.

To gain the full value of the statistics, it will be useful, especially when statistics are used for promoting the museum's role and value, to illustrate the bare figures with narrative texts about what has happened, e.g. reports about researchers getting new ideas during a museum visit, or about the social groups attending museum events for children. Such "anecdotal evidence" will greatly contribute to the acceptability of the statistics.

# 5 Reporting statistical data

# 5.1 General

Statistics referred to in this International Standard should be drawn at regular intervals, e.g. annually. The information given should be presented in conformity with the definitions of <u>Clause 2</u> and should, unless otherwise stated, comply with the recommendations in this International Standard. Every item and activity should be counted as mutually exclusive, i.e. not in more than one category (for example "event" or "exhibition").

# 5.2 Time period to which data refer

The time period covered should be explicitly stated. It will usually be a year. Data referring to a period should cover the specified period in question, not the interval between two successive surveys. Where total numbers are required, e.g. the total of staff, they usually refer to the end of the reporting period unless explicitly stated otherwise.

#### 5.3 Data estimated by sample

Where statistics have been compiled by sample survey rather than from a full count, the method used should be indicated. Care needs to be taken that samples are representative as regards time, place and selection methods, and that bias is not present in the responses. It also needs to be understood that, even where samples are fully representative, the procedure produces estimates that are subject to some error.

Standard errors and confidence intervals should be reported.

# 6 Collecting statistical data

#### 6.1 General

This Clause specifies the categories of data to be collected for museum statistics and recommends how each of these data should be collected.

The data are for the most part meant to be collected over the reporting period (usually a year). If a count at specific points of time is intended (e.g. counts of staff numbers at the end of the reporting period), this should be clearly stated in each case.

The data are generally collected for the whole museum, including different sites. If it is intended to collect the data separately for the different sites of a museum, this should be clearly stated in each case.

If the statistics of museum libraries and museum archives are collected separately, they should be reported as library or archive statistics. However, museum collections can also include material that is usually collected in libraries and archives. Such material should be counted as museum objects (see Annex A).

#### 6.2 Museums

# **6.2.1** Type of collection

Each museum should appear in one of the categories defined in <u>6.2.1</u> according to its primary collection type. Where a museum has no primary collection type, it should be counted as general museum.

Indicate the primary collection type of the museum:

- art museum;
- history museum;
- archaeology museum;
- natural history museum;
- science and technology museum;
- ethnography and anthropology museum;
- specialized museum;
- general museum;
- zoo/aquarium;
- botanic garden/arboretum.

# **6.2.2** Geographical coverage of the collections

The types of museum collections mentioned in <u>6.2.1</u> can have a local, regional, or national focus. Each museum should appear in one of the categories defined in <u>6.2.2</u> according to the geographical coverage of its primary collection.

Indicate the geographical coverage of the museum/collection:

- local;
- regional;

- national;
- no specific geographical focus.

# 6.2.3 Type of presentation (if applicable)

Indicate whether the museum is primarily organized as open-air museum or living history museum (yes/no).

Indicate whether one or several of the sites are organized as open-air museum or living history museum (yes/no).

Indicate whether the museum is primarily organized as ecomuseum (yes/no).

Indicate whether the museum is primarily organized as virtual museum (yes/no).

# 6.2.4 Governing authority

Indicate the governing authority of the museum:

- a) state-governed museum:
  - museum governed by governmental authorities;
- b) locally/regionally governed museum:
  - museum governed by local or regional authorities (province, county, city, town, etc.);
- c) other public-governed museum:
  - museum governed by other public authorities;
- d) private-governed museum:
  - museum governed by private entities (such as non-profit organisations registered under private law), families or individuals;
- e) public/private partnership museum:
  - museum governed jointly, in partnership of a public and a private institution.

NOTE Museums governed by religious organisations are counted under either c), d) or e).

# 6.2.5 Ownership of the permanent collection

Indicate the ownership of the main collection(s):

- the state, central or federal government;
- a regional or municipal government;
- a trust (public enterprise) or public foundation;
- another public institution;
- a non-profit private institution;
- a commercial enterprise;
- a private individual or a family;
- a church or a religious institution;
- the museum itself (with own legal status);

—	other	(please	specify)	
---	-------	---------	----------	--

# 6.2.6 Counting sites of museums

The following should be counted:

- number of sites for each museum;
- of these accessible to the public.

NOTE Only sites operated by the museum itself are included.

#### 6.3 Museum services and their use

## 6.3.1 General

This Clause covers the use of both traditional and electronic museum services, including social network services on the Internet and services formatted for mobile devices.

## 6.3.2 Opening times

Does the museum have regular hours during which it is open to the public? (yes/no)

Indicate the number of hours when the museum is open to the public during a normal week.

If there are differing opening hours over long parts of the year (e.g. summer and winter), the longest opening hours should be counted

Indicate the number of days the museum was open to the public during the reporting period (usually a year).

# 6.3.3 Entrance fees to permanent exhibitions

persons under 18 years of age;

Does the museum charge a general admission fee for the permanent exhibitions? (yes/no)

Indicate the full-price general admission fee (for an adult, without reductions or exemptions) at the end of the reporting period in your national currency.

Indicate for which persons or groups there were reductions of or exemptions from the entrance fees, if applicable, during the reporting period:

_	organized visitor groups;
_	families;
_	seniors;
_	persons with disabilities;
_	members of the museum society (friends of the museum);
_	ICOM members;
_	educators;
_	local residents;
_	any other reductions or exempts (please specify)

Count the number of days the museum was open free of charge during the reporting period.

#### **6.3.4** Visits

# 6.3.4.1 Physical visits

Count the number of physical visits to the museum premises during the reporting period, differentiated as to sites. This may be counted at either entrance or exit by one of the following methods:

- automatic counting by a device;
- manual counting;
- number of tickets sold and/or given away for free.

Any of these methods, but particularly the manual count, may be used for one or more sample time periods and grossed up to give an annual estimate. The method used should be reported. Where necessary, the count should be adjusted to deduct entrances and exits of museum staff as well as visits to cafeterias and museum shops only, and of any persons visiting other institutions or departments situated within the museum building.

Visits to temporary exhibitions, events or programmes should be counted separately (see 6.3.5).

Visits to the museum library or museum archive should be counted separately.

Visits to collections in closed storage and to the laboratories should be counted separately.

The total number of physical visits can be further differentiated according to types of visitors, e.g.

- group visitors, and
- persons under 18 years of age.

Count the number of persons that visited the museum free of charge.

Count the number of persons that visited the museum with a reduced fee.

### 6.3.4.2 Virtual visits

Count the number of virtual visits on the museum website, regardless of the number of pages or elements viewed, during the reporting period.

NOTE 1 The calculation of virtual visits involves specific analysis software. Depending on the method used, the recording of website statistics may be limited to a selection of core pages.

The calculation of virtual visits may be based on specific techniques such as visiting Web browsers, visiting IP addresses, or the number of accesses to the homepage. Museums should select and specify which method of calculation is used.

NOTE 2 If possible, the number of page views could be counted separately.

## 6.3.5 Temporary physical exhibitions

The following should be counted:

- number of temporary physical exhibitions shown during the reporting year;
- number of temporary physical exhibitions arranged or co-arranged by the museum;
- number of temporary physical exhibitions arranged or co-arranged by the museum that are shown in several locations (travelling exhibitions);
- number of temporary physical exhibitions with separate entrance;
- number of physical visits to temporary physical exhibitions.

- NOTE 1 Exhibitions can take place inside or outside the museum premises.
- NOTE 2 Exhibitions that are shown in several locations (travelling exhibitions) are counted in each location by the host museum.
- NOTE 3 The museum that arranges a travelling exhibition may count all locations for its own statistics.
- NOTE 4 Sales exhibitions are excluded.

## 6.3.6 Virtual exhibitions

The following should be counted:

- number of virtual exhibitions shown during the reporting year;
- number of virtual visits to virtual exhibitions.

### **6.3.7** Events

The following should be counted:

- a) number of events (pre-arranged singular activities with cultural, educational, social, political, scholarly, or similar intent);
- b) of a) for children;
- c) of a) for young adults;
- d) of a) for educators;
- e) of a) for seniors;
- f) of a) for ethnic minorities;
- g) number of events arranged in cooperation with external partners;
- h) number of attendances at all events;
- i) of h) attendances by children and young adults.

NOTE Attendances at events may be estimated.

#### 6.3.8 Virtual events

The following should be counted:

- number of virtual events:
- number of virtual visits to virtual events.

## 6.3.9 Guided tours

The following should be counted:

- a) number of guided museum tours;
- b) of a) guided by volunteers;
- c) of a) guided by registered external persons (e.g. teachers);
- d) of a) number of tours for school classes;
- e) number of attendances of all guided tours.

# 6.3.10 Programmes

The following should be counted:

- a) total number of museum programmes (pre-arranged ongoing and repeatable activities having an intent within the mission of the museum);
- b) of a) for children;
- c) of a) for young adults;
- d) of a) for educators;
- e) of a) for seniors;
- f) of a) for ethnic minorities;
- g) number of museum programmes arranged in cooperation with external partners;
- h) number of attendances at all programmes;
- i) of h) attendances by children and young adults.

If the programme is organized in multiple sessions, attendances should be counted at each session.

# 6.3.11 Virtual programmes

The following should be counted:

- number of virtual programmes;
- number of attendances to virtual programmes.

## 6.3.12 Publications

The following should be counted:

- a) number of documents (titles) published or edited by the museum or the museum staff during the reporting period;
- b) of a) books (including catalogues);
- c) of a) journals (including yearbooks);
- d) of a) articles;
- e) of a) annual reports and similar publications.
- NOTE 1 Minor publications such as leaf lets and brochures are excluded.
- NOTE 2 Documents can be published in analogue or digital format or can be printed on demand.
- NOTE 3 Peer-reviewed publications may be counted separately.

## 6.3.13 Museum website

Does the museum have its own website? (yes/no)

Is this website part of another website? (yes/no)

Does the museum have full rights over the website content? (yes/no)

Indicate language versions of the museum's website other than the national language(s).

#### 6.3.14 Online services

Which online services does the museum offer? (yes/no)

- online booking (tickets, guided tours);
- online shop;
- online image library;
- online collection;
- virtual museum tours:
- online services for educators.

## 6.3.15 Collection information available online (at the end of the reporting period)

The following should be counted:

- percentage of all objects in the museum's collection for which one or more digital images or sound or video recordings are available on the Internet;
- percentage of all objects in the museum's collection for which searchable records (showing e.g. object number, object name, owner, subject, date of origin) are available on the Internet.

# 6.3.16 Services for mobile devices offered by the museum

Count the number of services formatted for mobile use that the museum offers at the end of the reporting period. Count both the services that have been adapted from existing museum services and those that have been developed directly for mobile use.

EXAMPLE Mobile websites, mobile device apps, mobile catalogues, collections of digital images, museum tours, etc.

NOTE A special collection adapted to mobile devices is counted as one service.

#### 6.3.17 Social network services

Does the museum use one or more social network services? (yes/no)

EXAMPLE Facebook, Twitter

#### 6.3.18 Loans

Count the number of objects from the museum's collection that were lent to other institutions for exhibitions or other purposes during the reporting year.

Count the number of objects that were borrowed by the museum from other institutions for exhibitions or other purposes during the reporting year.

# 6.3.19 Special services

Indicate whether the following special services are offered on the museum premises, not necessarily by the museum itself (yes/no):

- a museum library and/or a museum archive that is open to the public or at least to researchers;
- a museum shop;
- an on-site food service: restaurant, café, cafeteria, etc.;

other (please specify).

#### 6.4 Collections

## 6.4.1 Total collection at the end of the reporting period

Indicate the total number of objects owned by/registered in the museum. Break down the figure as to subjects (all objects should be counted only once):

- natural science specimens (including living animals and plants);
- art objects;
- cultural artefacts (except art objects, but including buildings, technology objects, social history objects);
- print or handwritten documents;
- photographic objects and audiovisual documents.
- NOTE 1 For more differentiated counts of the collection, see Annex A.
- NOTE 2 For each category, analogue and digital objects are counted separately.

#### 6.4.2 Accessions

The following should be counted:

total number of objects added to the collection during the reporting period.

## 6.4.3 Deaccessions/withdrawals

The following should be counted:

— total number of objects deaccessioned from the collection during the reporting period.

# 6.4.4 Mode of acquisition

Count the number of objects added by the following:

- purchase;
- exchange;
- donation;
- fieldwork or excavation;
- repatriation.

## 6.4.5 Percentage of objects in the collection on display

Calculate or estimate the percentage of objects in the museum collection that are displayed in the permanent or in temporary exhibitions and in open storage on a specified day.

# 6.4.6 Documentary coverage of the collection

The following should be counted:

a) percentage of the collection that is covered by an inventory;

- b) of a) by an electronic inventory;
- c) percentage of the collection that is covered by a museum catalogue;
- d) of c) by an electronic catalogue.

# 6.5 Income and expenditure

# 6.5.1 Operating (ordinary) expenditure

## **6.5.1.1 Employees**

The following should be counted:

- total amount of money spent on salaries and wages, allowances and other employee benefits, and other related expenditure;
- costs of staff training, including training materials and fees for external experts.

NOTE The cost of the time that the museum staff spends on training or being trained are excluded.

# 6.5.1.2 Acquisitions

Count the costs of all objects acquired for the museum's collection out of the operating budget during the reporting year.

#### 6.5.1.3 Collection maintenance

The following should be counted:

- costs of preservation and conservation where carried out by outside contractors;
- costs of reproduction (microfilming, copying, photographing) where carried out by outside contractors.

If the activities are carried out by the museum, the costs of the staff time shall not be counted, but the costs of materials for each activity could be counted separately.

#### **6.5.1.4** Premises

Count the costs of rent, maintenance and services (heat, light, water, sewage, fire protection, security).

## 6.5.1.5 Information technology

Count the costs of computers, networks (operations and maintenance), software licenses and telecommunications which are not considered as capital expenditure.

# 6.5.1.6 Events and programmes

Count all expenses for events and programmes.

The costs of museum staff time shall not be counted.

# 6.5.1.7 Exhibitions

Count all expenses for physical and virtual temporary exhibitions.

The costs of museum staff time shall not be counted.

#### 6.5.1.8 Miscellaneous

Count all other costs including copying, postage, promotion of services, stationery, insurance, transport and communication, consulting and equipment costs.

## 6.5.2 Capital expenditure

The following should be counted:

- expenditure for the purchase of new collections or objects;
  - NOTE In some countries, expenditure for new collections or objects is not accounted for as capital expenditure.
- expenditure for the comprehensive re-organization of the permanent exhibition;
- expenditure for the acquisition of, or addition to, building sites, new buildings and extensions (including architects fees and expenditure for competitions);
- expenditure on integrated museum systems (hardware and software);
- all other capital expenditure including furniture and equipment.

## 6.5.3 Income and funding

The following should be counted (in each case including funding for capital investment):

- funding from the museum's own institution or parent authority;
- funds from public sources;
- funds from corporate and private sources (excluding donations);
- donations:
- capital income (e.g. from a foundation);
- income generated, i.e. the income generated by entrance fees, sales, rent of rooms, etc.

# 6.6 Space

#### 6.6.1 Gross floor area

The gross floor area shall be expressed in square metres.

Separate figures may be given for the main museum and additional sites.

Open-air museums should give separate figures on the whole site, as the site around the buildings is an essential part of the museum.

# 6.6.2 Net usable area for museum functions

The net usable area shall be expressed in square metres.

Separate figures may be given for the main museum and additional sites.

Open-air museums should give separate figures on the whole site as the site around the buildings is an essential part of the museum.

#### 6.6.3 Net usable area by function

The net area calculated in <u>6.6.1</u> may be allocated to the following main functions:

- display of museum objects: space for permanent exhibitions;
- *display of museum objects*: space for temporary exhibitions;
- *objects storage*: includes all areas devoted principally to storing objects, whether open or closed access;
- museum management and technical services: includes staff offices, reprography and digitizing, computing and management, projects, storerooms, staff meeting areas, staff lounges and staff sickrooms;
- events and visitor services: includes lecture and cinema hall, space for events and programmes, areas
  for recreation and communication, sickrooms, the entrance hall, museum library and museum
  archive;
- preservation and restoration, research laboratories.

Outdoor space used for permanent and/or temporary exhibitions should be counted separately.

#### 6.6.4 Barrier-free access

Indicate whether the main access areas to the museum and/or to its different levels are barrier-free (wheelchair-usable). (yes/no)

# 6.7 Management

# 6.7.1 Preservation/conservation

The following should be counted:

- number of objects in the museum's collection that have received preservation/conservation treatment during the reporting period;
- number of objects from other institutions that received preservation/conservation treatment in the museum.
- NOTE 1 Preservation/conservation treatment in the sense of this International Standard includes only those methods that conserve the object in its original form.
- NOTE 2 Replacement of the original by copy, microfilm, or other methods are excluded.
- NOTE 3 Preservation/conservation carried out by the museum itself and by outside contractors may be counted separately.

# 6.7.2 Digitization

The following should be counted or estimated:

- percentage of all objects in the museum's analogue collection that have been digitized up to date (end of the reporting period);
- number of objects from the analogue collection that have been digitized during the reporting period;
  - NOTE 1 The total number can be split into different types of objects or subjects.
  - NOTE 2 A two-dimensional or three-dimensional object is counted as digitized if its metadata and at least one image are available in digital format.

NOTE 3 Documents such as autographs, books or audiovisual documents are counted as digitized if their metadata and their contents are available in digital format.

percentage of all digital images of museum objects that are publicly available on the Internet.

# 6.8 Museum staff (at the end of the reporting period)

# 6.8.1 Paid staff

The following should be counted:

- a) total number of paid staff (persons);
- b) of a) part-time employees;
- c) of a) with fixed-term work contract;
- d) total number of paid staff (FTE).

#### 6.8.2 Volunteers

Count the number of voluntary non-remunerated assistants as persons and as FTE.

# 6.8.3 Internships and trainees

Count the number of persons (students, trainees and visiting scholars) that spent a specified time period during the reporting year in the museum to broaden their education/skills.

The duration of the stay of these persons in the museum should be at least one month.

# 6.8.4 Staff training

The following should be counted:

- number of attendance hours of staff members at formal staff training (during the reporting period);
- number of staff who have received formal training (during the reporting period).

NOTE 1 Formal training is defined as pre-planned lessons which can be held in-house or externally, and delivered by museum staff or external experts.

NOTE 2 Informal training, e.g. point-of-use training, is excluded.

# Annex A

(informative)

# Subdivision of collection counts

## A.1 Classification

#### A.1.1 General

The following classification is recommended for the counting.

# A.1.2 Natural science specimens

- Zoological specimens: dry and wet preparations, glass slides
- Botanical specimens: dry and wet preparations, glass slides, frozen cultures
- **Geological and paleontological specimens**: rocks, gems, minerals, meteorites, sediments, fossils (include appropriate microfossils, nanofossils, cyanobacteria and fossil palynology materials)
- **Human specimens:** human tissue, hair, skeletons, mummies, etc.
- Living animals (for zoos and aquaria)
- Living plants (for botanic gardens and arboretums)
- **Other natural science specimens** (e.g. chemical substances, drugs)

## A.1.3 Art objects

- Paintings (e.g. on canvas, panel, plaster)
- Art on paper (e.g. graphic documents, drawings, watercolours)
- Architectural plans and drawings
- Sculpture (includes carvings, indoor and outdoor sculpture in all media)
- Decorative arts (e.g. fine metalwork, jewellery, timepieces, enamels, ivories, lacquer, tapestries, china)
- Other art objects (e.g. stage design, installations)

# A.1.4 Cultural artefacts (except art objects)

The classification considers the social function of the objects, not the material.

- Devices, machines
- Hand tools
- Vehicles
- Textiles, clothing (including flags, rugs, costumes and accessories)
- Furniture, furnishings, inventory

- Toys
- Daily life objects
- **Religious objects** (e.g. liturgical devices, devotional objects, votive offerings)
- Coins, medals
- Musical instruments
- Arms and armour
- Medical artefacts
- Historical buildings (for open-air museums)
- Other artefacts (e.g. technological and agricultural artefacts, sports artefacts)

#### A.1.5 Printed documents

- Books (counted in volumes)
- Bound serials and newspapers (counted in volumes)
- Other bound volumes (e.g. scrapbooks, albums)
- Cartographic documents
- Ephemera and broadsides
- Philatelic and numismatic prints
- Postcards
- Posters and other large sheets
- Other

Unbound periodicals and newspapers should be included in the count as if they were collected into bound volumes. They should not be counted as single issues.

# A.1.6 Handwritten or typescript documents

- Correspondence, diaries and other personal records
- Manuscripts and typescripts

# A.1.7 Photographic objects

- Microfilms and microfiches
- Black and white prints
- Black and white film negatives
- Colour prints, negatives, and positives (including slides and transparencies)
- Other (e.g. daguerreotypes, ambrotypes, tintypes, glass plate negatives and lantern slides)

## A.1.8 Audiovisual documents

 Audio documents (wax cylinders, phonographic records, tapes, cassettes, audio CDs, DVDs, files of digital audio recordings)

— **Visual and combined audiovisual documents** (motion pictures, video recordings, computer games)

NOTE 1 Audiovisual documents on physical carriers are counted as physical units (e.g. CD cases, record sleeves or cassettes, or video boxes).

NOTE 2 Digital audiovisual documents are counted separately.

# A.1.9 Digital objects (except audiovisual documents)

For each category listed under A.1.2 to A.1.8, analogue and digital formats are counted separately.

EXAMPLE 1 Number of postcards

— of these digital postcards

EXAMPLE 2 Number of paintings

of these digitized paintings

NOTE 1 Digital objects include objects that have been digitally created or digitized by the museum and objects that have been acquired in digital form.

NOTE 2 A two-dimensional or three-dimensional object is counted as digitized if its metadata and at least one image of it are available in digital format.

NOTE 3 Documents such as autographs, books or audiovisual documents are counted as digitized if their metadata and their contents are available in digital format.

NOTE 4 If detailed counts of digital objects are not possible, physical carriers for digital objects (discs, CD-ROM, DVD, data tapes, etc.) may be counted instead.

# **A.2 Counting procedures**

#### A.2.1 General

If not otherwise stated, the objects are counted and recorded as physical items or as digital objects.

Where an exact count of objects is not feasible, the numbers may be estimated. Cases of estimation should be reported.

# A.2.2 Sets

Several objects belonging to a group with the same origin, physical description, use, etc. are counted individually, if they can be handled and displayed independently. This will frequently correspond with the unit for cataloguing purposes. Objects separately catalogued should normally be counted as separate units.

EXAMPLE 1 Tea set (count as many units as many parts the set has).

EXAMPLE 2 A pair of shoes (count two units).

Where objects are normally housed, issued and used in slipcases, boxes, or on sheets, then the unit to be counted will be the "handling" unit (e.g. boxes or trays of tickets, sheets or albums of postage stamps, albums of photographs, butterflies needled on a tray).

## A.2.3 Fragments

If applicable, each count may have a subgroup "of these fragments".

EXAMPLE Number of textiles

of these fragments

# A.2.4 Accessions and deaccessions

Accessions (see  $\underline{6.4.2}$ ) and deaccessions (see  $\underline{6.4.3}$ ) can also be differentiated according to the groups in this Annex.

# **Bibliography**

- [1] ISO 2789:2013, Information and documentation International library statistics
- [2] ISO 5127:—, Information and documentation  $Vocabulary^{1)}$
- [3] ISO/TS 21547:2010, Health informatics Security requirements for archiving of electronic health records Principles
- [4] ISO 9000:2015, Quality management systems Fundamentals and vocabulary
- [5] CIDOC International Committee for Documentation of the International Council of Museums. *International Guidelines for Museum Object Information* 1995, available from <a href="https://www.cidoc-crm.org/docs/guide.htm">www.cidoc-crm.org/docs/guide.htm</a>
- [6] HAGEDORN-SAUPE. M.; ERMERT, A: (Ed). *A Guide to European Museum Statistics.* Berlin, 2004. Materialien aus dem Institut für Museumskunde; Sonderheft 3, available from <a href="http://www.egmus.eu/en/publications/international/">http://www.egmus.eu/en/publications/international/</a>
- [7] ICOM INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE FOR DOCUMENTATION. Statement of principles of museum documentation. Version 6.2, June 2012. Available from: <a href="http://network.icom.museum/cidoc/working-groups/documentation-standards/principles-of-museum-documentation/">http://network.icom.museum/cidoc/working-groups/documentation-standards/principles-of-museum-documentation/</a>
- [8] ICOM Museum definition, 2007, available from <a href="http://icom.museum/the-vision/museum-definition/">http://icom.museum/the-vision/museum-definition/</a>
- [9] IMLS Institute of Museum and Libr ary Services. *Museum Data Collection Report and Analysis*, 2005, available from <a href="http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/Museum\_Data\_Collection.pdf">http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/Museum\_Data\_Collection.pdf</a>
- [10] IMLS INSTITUTE OF MUSEUM AND LIBRARY SERVICES. Museums Count Survey Instrument 2012. Available from, <a href="http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/MuseumsCountSurveyInstrument.pdf">http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/MuseumsCountSurveyInstrument.pdf</a>
- [11] IMLS Institute of Museum and Library Services. Status of Technology and Digitization in the Nation's Museums and Libraries. 2006 Available from: <a href="https://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/Technology\_Digitization.pdf">www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/Technology\_Digitization.pdf</a>
- [12] MLA. Museums, Libraries, Archives. Digest of Statistics for Museums, Libraries and Archives. LISU, 2005, available from <a href="http://www.lboro.ac.uk/microsites/infosci/lisu/downloads/digest05.pdf">http://www.lboro.ac.uk/microsites/infosci/lisu/downloads/digest05.pdf</a>
- [13] National Standards for Australian Museums and Galleries Version 1.2. Melbourne, Australia: The National Standards Taskforce 2014. Available from <a href="http://www.collectionsaustralia.net/sector\_info\_item/107">http://www.collectionsaustralia.net/sector\_info\_item/107</a>
- [14] SPECTRUM THE UK MUSEUM COLLECTIONS MANAGEMENT STANDARD. SPECTRUM 4.0 and SPECTRUM 4.0 Appendix 1 Information Requirements. Cambridge, UK: Collections Trust, 2011. Available from <a href="http://www.collectionstrust.org.uk/collections-link/collections-management/spectrum">http://www.collectionstrust.org.uk/collections-link/collections-management/spectrum</a>
- [15] STROEKER. N. et al. Report on the ENUMER ATE Thematic Surveys on Digital Collections in European Cultural Heritage Institutions 2013. Available from: <a href="http://www.enumerate.eu/en/surveys/thematic\_survey/">http://www.enumerate.eu/en/surveys/thematic\_survey/</a>
- [16] UNESCO (cfr. 1984 UNESCO/STC/Q/853)

<sup>1)</sup> To be published (replaces ISO 5127:2000).

#### **Bureau of Indian Standards**

BIS is a statutory institution established under the *Bureau of Indian Standards Act*, 2016 to promote harmonious development of the activities of standardization, marking and quality certification of goods and attending to connected matters in the country.

## Copyright

BIS has the copyright of all its publications. No part of these publications may be reproduced in any form without the prior permission in writing of BIS. This does not preclude the free use, in the course of implementing the standard, of necessary details, such as symbols and sizes, type or grade designations. Enquiries relating to copyright be addressed to the Head (Publication & Sales), BIS.

#### **Review of Indian Standards**

Amendments are issued to standards as the need arises on the basis of comments. Standards are also reviewed periodically; a standard along with amendments is reaffirmed when such review indicates that no changes are needed; if the review indicates that changes are needed, it is taken up for revision. Users of Indian Standards should ascertain that they are in possession of the latest amendments or edition by referring to the website-www.bis.gov.in or www.standardsbis.in.

This Indian Standard has been developed from Doc No.: MSD 05 (24393).

## **Amendments Issued Since Publication**

Amend No.	Date of Issue	Text Affected	

#### **BUREAU OF INDIAN STANDARDS**

#### **Headquarters:**

Manak Bhavan, 9 Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg, New Delhi 110002

Telephones: 2323 0131, 2323 3375, 2323 9402 Website: www.bis.gov.in

		U
Regional Offices:		
Central	: 601/A, Konnectus Tower -1, 6 <sup>th</sup> Floor, DMRC Building, Bhavbhuti Marg, New Delhi 110002	<i>Telephones</i> { 2323 7617
Eastern	: 8 <sup>th</sup> Floor, Plot No 7/7 & 7/8, CP Block, Sector V, Salt Lake, Kolkata, West Bengal 700091	2367 0012 2320 9474
Northern	: Plot No. 4-A, Sector 27-B, Madhya Marg, Chandigarh 160019	{ 265 9930
Southern	: C.I.T. Campus, IV Cross Road, Taramani, Chennai 600113	2254 1442 2254 1216
Western:	5 <sup>th</sup> Floor/MTNL CETTM Technology Street, Hiranandani Gardens, Powai, Mumbai - 400076	25700030 25702715

Branches: AHMEDABAD, BENGALURU, BHOPAL, BHUBANESHWAR, CHANDIGARH, CHENNAI, COIMBATORE, DEHRADUN, DELHI, FARIDABAD, GHAZIABAD, GUWAHATI, HARYANA (CHANDIGARH), HUBLI, HYDERABAD, JAIPUR, JAMMU, JAMSHEDPUR, KOCHI, KOLKATA, LUCKNOW, MADURAI, MUMBAI, NAGPUR, NOIDA, PARWANOO, PATNA, PUNE, RAIPUR, RAJKOT, SURAT, VIJAYAWADA.